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8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

9 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
10
11 | REVEREND HEIDI LEPP, et al., No. 2:17-cv-1317-KIM-EFB PS
12 Plaintiffs,
13 V. ORDER AND FINDINGS AND
14| YUBA COUNTY. etal. RECOMMENDATIONS
15 Defendants.
16
17 Several motions are pending which are addressed Herein.
18 (1) Defendant Lori Ajax moves to dismiss plaihHeidi Lepp’s first amended complaint fof
19 failure to state a claim pursuant to FederdeRui Civil Procedurg“Rule”) 12(b)(6) or,
20 alternatively, for a more definitive statem@ursuant to Rule 12(e). ECF Nos. 24.
21 (2) Defendants Michael Vroman and Brandon Olivera move to dismiss the amended
22 complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and tok&trall named plaintiffshat did not sign the
23 complaint pursuant to Rule 12(f). ECF Nos. 26, 34.
24 (3) Defendants the County of Yuba and Jerenmgr®t have also moved to dismiss pursuant
25 to Rule 12(b)(6), but their motion is directatplaintiff's original complaint. ECF No.
26 23.
27

! This case, in which plaintiff is proceedipro se, is before the undersigned pursuant to
28 | Eastern District of Califaria Local Rule 302(c)(21)See28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1).
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(4) Defendant Chris Monaco moves ta aside his default. ECF No. 21.

(5) Plaintiff Lepp submitted two motions for umctive relief (ECF Nos. 11 and 12) and a
motion to amend the complaint pursuant to Rule 15 (ECF No. 44).

(6) Also pending is the court’s September 29, 20dder directing plaintiff to show cause
why sanctions should not be imposed for failiodile oppositions ostatements of non-
opposition to defendants’ motions. ECF No. 33.

For the reasons explained below, the otdeshow cause is discharged and it is
recommended that Ajax, Vroman, Olivera’s motitmslismiss and Monaco’s motion to set as
default be granted, and that tGeunty of Yuba and Strang’s ithan to dismiss and plaintiff's
motion for injunctive relief and to amend the complaint be déehied.

l. Order to Show Cause

In violation of Local Rule 230(c), plaiftifailed to timely file either opposition or

statements of non-opposition to defendants the County of Yuba, Jeremy Strang, Lori Ajax

de

and

Michael Vroman’s motions to dismiss and/orlstriand defendant Monaco’s motion to set aside

default. Accordingly, plaintiff was ordered tdefia response to defendantnotions and to show
cause why sanctions should not be imposed foatrmi of Local Rule 230(c)After receiving ar
extension of time, plaintiff filed oppositions tofdedants’ motions. ECF Nos. 47-50. Plaintiff
however, failed to respond toetltourt’s order to show cause.

Given plaintiff's pro se statusnd that she has now filedsponses to defendants’ motio
the order to show cause will be dischad@nd no sanctions are imposed.

[l. First Amended Complaint

Plaintiff's first amendment complaint spab@ pages and consistsdaly of disjointed
and hyperbolic allegations conoerg plaintiff’'s displeasure oveéaws concerning marijuana.
See generallfECF No. 7. For instance, plaintddbmplains that Richard Nixon ignored the

spiritual healing and religious uses of maaija by wrongly labeling marijuana as a schedule

2 Because the court determined that orgliarent would not be of material assistance
the court, the motions were submitted without appearance and without argument pursuant
Eastern District of Caldrnia Local Rule 230(Q).

2

one

to




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN NN DN R P R R R R R R R R
® N o O~ W N P O © 0N O 0NN W N B o

drug. Id. She claims that the government has ocwmetd its “War on Drugs” tbenefit politicians
lobbyists, corporations, for-profit igions, and criminal enterprisekl. at 4-5. She also contenc
that the “war on drugs” is akin “to what Adolptitler did to the jews,” and claims that having
marijuana plants seized and destroyesinslar to losing a child or parentd. at 7.

Plaintiff also alleges that she is thegident of ONA Sugarleaf Rastafarian Church,
which was established by her husbartdrgbassage of California Proposition 25Md. at 18, 20.
She claims that the United States and Calitohave attempted ttestroy the church by
committing countless war crimes in the fornfi@gulations, ordinances, legislation, fear,
tyranny, hate, discrimination, robberyeth kidnapping, ad incarceration.”ld. at 19. She also
claims that during “the course of this waslie has unsuccessfully requested law enforcemer
help to “stop heinous crimes such as humafiitking, theft and grand larceny perpetuated or
‘Cannabis grower or user.’'Id. at 22.

Setting aside plaintiff's hypbole, the amended complaint appears primarily concerng
with three separate events: (1) drug enforcemeahs Eccurring in Yuba Qunty in 2014; (2) fou
simultaneously executed drug raidccurring in Sacramen@ounty and Yuba County in 2016,
and (3) alleged harassment by defendant Chris Monaco in 2017.

Plaintiff alleges that in 2014, the Yubaty Sherriff's Department, California Fish ar
Game, and an “Unidentified Support Team,” exed@#eearch warrant plaintiff's home and
place of businesdd. at 11-13. She claims that during gearch she was physically abused, |
property was destroyed, and ofrs improperly searched hmymputer for confidential
documents.ld. at 13. Plaintiff also appears to alldbat search warrant was unlawful becaus
was obtained without a proper thorough investigationd. at 11), and plaiiff was operating “a
valid and 100% legal[] . . . Medit&annabis Cooperative . . . Itl. at 13.

Plaintiff also alleges that in September 20%6T errorist Attack occurred in Yolo Count
by a federally funded agency called TRIDENT, wogkin conjunction with the local task force

YONET.” Id. at 22. The alleged “terrorist attackginsisted of simultaneolysexecuted raids a

® Proposition 215 enacted the Compassioba Act, Cal. Health & Safety Code
88 11362.5¢et seq
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four properties, none of which weeowned by plaintiff, located ithe counties of Sacramento and

Yolo.* During the raids authorities allegedly cutaipand seized hundreds of marijuana plant

Id. at 25. Plaintiff appears to contend tha warrants for the four raids were obtained by

defendant Vromand. at 32), who is the Placer County DistrAttorney and head of TRIDENT]|

Id. at 26.
Plaintiff also alleges thatefendant Chris Monaco, a coeleforcement officer, engaged
various types of harassing condufd. at 34-37. In 2017, Monaco allegedly admitted to ente

land owned by Yubud Church—a church heabgglaintiff, her husband, and Aaron

O’Connor—atfter receiving a complaiabout an “outdoor grow.1d. at 35. Monaco also enter¢g

adjacent land and took pictures of the church’s property and congretghr86. Plaintiff further
alleges that Monaco “unabashedly postefohand discriminating comments disparaging
[plaintiff’'s] churches.” Id. She contends that Monaco’s conduct was tantamount to stalking
spying. Id. at 36-37.

In addition to these three separate evenésathended complaint is scattered with vari
random stories, many involving indduals and entities that are rdrties to this action. For
instance, plaintiff generally aljes that a married couple was fteized” and that the husband
now potentially facing a dishonorable disaygfrom the United States Air Forchl. at 28. The
complaint also contains allegations about an investigative journalist named SimotdLavi.
32-33. The journalist was afledly subjected to retaliatoraids by YONET after filing
complaints against multiple state court judges@niied States Senator Katadlarris. Plaintiff
also details several instances of TRIDEN&tdaying and seizing marijuana plants owned by
individuals or entis that are not parties to this sufiee, e.gid. at 28 (“TRIDENT destroyed
Big Red’s Collectives [sic] plants . . . ."33-34 (Trident seized 300 pounds of marijuana from
Howard Steven Bourland).

1
1

* Plaintiff, however, is allegedly the presitt of Sugarleaf Farms, Inc., which owned ¢
of the raided properties. ECF No. 7 at 23.
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The complaint purports to allege 24 claims against approximately 30 defendants,
including Senator Kamala Harris, former presidgitl Clinton, former Secagtary of State Hillary
Clinton, and former president Barack Oban.at 1-2.

. Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss and Strike

A. Rule 12(b)(6) Standard

To survive dismissal for failure to statelaim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint
must contain more than a “formulaic recitatiortlué elements of a causéaction”; it must
contain factual allegations sufficient to “raeseight to relief abovéhe speculative level.Bell
Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). “The pleaglimust contain something more
... than . .. a statement of facts that meredates a suspicion [of] agally cognizable right of
action.” Id. (quoting 5 C. Wright & A. Miller Federal Practice and Procedu&1216, pp. 235-
236 (3d ed. 2004)). “[A] complaint must containfficient factual matter, accepted as true, to
‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its faceAschroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has faciabpkibility when plaintiff pleads factu

content that allows the court to draw the reabtmmference that the defendant is liable for the

misconduct alleged.ld. However, dismissal is appropriatéhe complaint lacks a cognizable
legal theory or it fails to plead sufficiefacts to support a cognizable legal thedBalistreri v.
Pacifica Police Dep’t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

In considering a motion to dismiss, the ¢auust accept as true the allegations of the

complaint in questiortiospital Bldg. Co. v. Rex Hosp. Tr425 U.S. 738, 740 (1976), construg

the pleading in the light mo&dvorable to the party opposing tim®tion, and resoky all doubts in
the pleader’s favorJenkins v. McKeithen895 U.S. 411, 42%eh’g denied 396 U.S. 869
(1969). The court will “presume that generdéghtions embrace thoseegific facts that are
necessary to supgdhe claim.” Nat’l Org. for Womeninc. v. Scheidler510 U.S. 249, 256
(1994) (quotind_ujan v. Defenders of Wildlif&04 U.S. 555, 561 (1992)).

Plaintiff is proceeding withoutounsel and pro se pleadiraye held to a less stringent
standard than those drafted by lawyédfaines v. Kerner404 U.S. 519, 520 (197Byetz v.

Kelman 773 F.2d 1026, 1027 n.1 (9th Cir. 1985). But thettNCircuit has held that this less
5
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stringent standard for pro se partmesst still be viewed in light djbal andTwombly. Hebbe v.
Pliler, 627 F.3d 338, 342 (9th Cir. 2010). Further,adbert’s liberal interpetation of a pro se
litigant’s pleading may not supply essenti@mknts of a claim that are not pldéena v.
Gardner, 976 F.2d 469, 471 (9th Cir. 199%¢ey v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Alas&&3 F.2d
266, 268 (9th Cir. 1982). Furthermore, “[tjhe daamot required to accept legal conclusions
cast in the form of factual afiations if those conclusions canmeasonably be drawn from the
facts alleged.”Clegg v. Cult Awareness Netwod8 F.3d 752, 754-55 (9th Cir. 1994). Neithe
need the court accept unreasonable infergnor unwarranted dections of fact.W. Mining
Council v. Watt643 F.2d 618, 624 (9th Cir. 1981).

B. Rule 12(f) Standard

Rule 12(f) authorizes the court to ord¢ricken from any pleading “any redundant,
immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.'maAtter is immaterial if it “has no essential or
important relationship to the claim forlief or the defenses being pleadedantasy, Inc. v.
Fogerty, 984 F.2d 1524, 1527 (9th Cir.1998)y’d on other grounds by10 U.S. 517, 114 S.Ct
1023, 127 L.Ed.2d 455 (1994). A matter is impertinent if it consists of statements that do
pertain to and are not necesstiryhe issues in questioild. Redundant matter is defined as
allegations that “constitute a needless repetitiootloér averments or are foreign to the issue.
Thornton v. Solutionon€leaning Concepts, Inc2007 WL 210586 (E.D. Cal. Jan.26, 2007)
(citing Wilkerson v. Butler229 F.R.D. 166, 170 (E.D. Cal. 2005)). Finally, a matter is
scandalous if it improperly casts a dertogg light on a party or other perso8kadegaard v.
Farrell, 578 F. Supp. 1209, 1221 (D.N.J. 198Albot v. Robert Matthews Distributing C861
F.2d 654, 665 (7th Cir. 1992). As with motions temiss for failure to state a claim, when rul
upon a motion to strike, the court must view theapling under attack in the light more favoral
to the pleaderLazar v. Trans Union LLC195 F.R.D. 665, 669 (C.D. Cal. 200Multimedia
Patent Trust v. Microsoft Corp525 F.Supp.2d 1200, 1207 (S.D. Cal. 2007).

C. Claims on Behalf of Others

Defendants Vroman and Olivera move to stakenamed plaintiffghat did not sign the

complaint. ECF No. 26-1 at 3-4; ECF No. 34-1 at 4-6.
6
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Plaintiff, Heidi Lepp, is the sole signayaio the amended complaint. ECF No. 7
However, she purports to bring this action ohdieof herself and Charles Edward Lepp, Aard
O’Connor, Michele Ellis, Howard Stev@ourland, Paul Fulleon, the ONA Sugarleaf
Rastafarian Church, OC Steve’s Church,Shlop Growers Church, and her dog Lucky Lepp.
ECF No. 21 at 1. There is no indication from teeard that Ms. Lepp is an attorney. Unless
is an attorney she may not represent the isterfeothers, and may neign pleadings on their

behalf. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civib&dure requires that “pedry pleading, written

motion, and other paper . . . bgrsed by at least one attorneyre€ord in the attorney's name—

or by a party personally if the g is unrepresented.” Fed. Riv. P. 11(a). In addition, Local
Rule 183(a) requires that any imdiual who is representing hetswithout an attorney must
appear personally or by courtesypearance by an attorney and/mat delegate that duty to ar
other individual. E.D. Cal. L.R. 183(a).

Accordingly, Ms. Lepp may not bring clains behalf of the other individuals and

churches named in the amended compl&s#e Johns v. County of San Dietyp4 F.3d 874,

876-877 (9th Cir. 1997) (a non-lawyer has no authdoitgppear as an attorney for another, and

general power of attorney does not give non-kmght to assert the personal constitutional
claims of another)Church of the New Testament v. United Stat88 F.2d 771, 773-74 (9th Ci

1986) (“The Church is an unincorporated asgamia . . . Unincorporated associations, like

n

y

-

corporations, must appear throughattorney; except iextraordinary circumstances, they cannot

be represented by laypersons”).

D. Yuba County and Strang’s Motion to Dismiss

Defendants the County of Yuba and Jeremy Strang filed a motion to dismiss under
12(b)(6), which seeks dismissal of plaintifésginal complaint. ECF No. 23. Plaintiff,
however, amended her complaint as a matteooifse by filing a first amended compliant sho

after initiating this action. ECF No. 3eeFed. R. Civ. P. 15 (a) (allowing a complaint to be

> Charles Lepp and Aaron O’Connor have sijather pleadings filed in this actioGee
ECF No. 45 at 10; ECF No. 48 at 2; ECF No. 49;&CF No. 50 at 5. They did not, however
sign the complaint and therefore aw parties to this action.

7
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amended “once as a matter of course withir21. days after service afresponsive pleading ot

21 days after service of a motiander Rule 12(b) . . ..”). Curiously, Yuba County and Strang’s

motion acknowledges that “an Amended Cormlavas filed (ECF M. 7), rendering it the
operative pleading,”, but then statthat “[d]efendastaddress the complaint to the extent not
considered moot by the fig of said amended complaint.” ECF No. 23-1 at 2 n.2.

“[W]hen a plaintiff files an amended complg the amended complaint supersedes thg
original, the latter being treatéldereafter as non-existentRhodes v. Robinspf21 F.3d 1002,
1005 (9th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marksitbea). As the motion is directed at an
inoperative complaint, it is oot and must be denied.

E. Dismissal for Failure to St Claim and Violation of Rule 8.

As drafted, the complaint fails to providefendants with “fainotice” of the claims
asserted against them. Rather than providing g ahd plain statement of plaintiff's claims, th

complaint is so prolix and convoluted that itiBfing the factual basis for any of plaintiff's

claims is nearly impossible. The first 39 pagethefcomplaint consist of disjointed allegations

regarding various events that aap to have little relation taeh other, with the remaining 11

pages consisting of little more tharist of 24 purported claimsdhare largely devoid of factual

\1%4

e

support. Moreover, the complaint purports togdlelaims against 30 defendants, many of which

are only listed in complaint’s capn and not referenced in the body of the amended complaint.

Furthermore, plaintiff often levies allegatioagainst all defendantajthout identifying the

particular acts allegedly perfoed by each individual defendant. By proceeding in this fashion,

it is not possible for defendants to ascertainctvifiacts in the amendecomplaint support each
particular claim.

Moreover, the complaint is replete with vagurel conclusory allegations that fail to
support a cognizable claim for relief. For instgnnesupport of plaintiff's first cause of action,
which alleges violation of the First Amendmengiptiff claims that defedants “are using their
positions as government agents as a licendestoiminate,” and that “Defendants’ actions
engender gross obstruction of our 1st Amendmeniiggies.” Plaintiff alsgurports to allege a

claim for violation of the Sixth Amendment. ttever, the only allegations in support of the
8
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claim are that “DEFENDANTS aneot Victims and the courtsarequired by law to produce a
victim,” and “No Victim No Crime.” Id. at 40. Many of plaintiff'©other causes of actions are
merely listed, without any factual ajjations, conclusory or otherwiséd. at 45-47. For
example, plaintiff's fifteenth cae of action simply reads “8fhmendment,” while the twenty
second cause of action only states “Tresimgson sacred lanahd private land.”

Simply put, it is impossible to glean fraime complaint the specific causes of action
plaintiff intends to allege agast any of the individual defeadts. Accordingly, plaintiff's
complaint must be dismissed for failure to state a cl&ee Schmidt v. Hermansil4 F.2d 1221
1223 (9th Cir. 1980) (upholding the dismissahafomplaint where it was “impossible to
designate the cause of action or causes of aatiempted to be alleged in the complaintlii)ye
Sagent Tech., Inc278 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1094 (N.D. Cal. 2003) (“[T]he complaint fails to st
claim because plaintiffs do not indicateialhindividual defendant or defendants were
responsible for which Eged wrongful act.”)see also McHenry v. Renré&d F.3d 1172, 1177-7
(9th Cir. 1996) (affirming Rule 8 dismissal ofraplaint that was “argumentative, prolix, replet
with redundancy, and largely irrelevant” and pdivg an example of a properly pleaded clain

which could be “read in secondad answered in minutes”).

The complaint also purports to allege claegsinst defendants thai@ear to be immune.

ate a

8

It alleges claims against three judges. To thergxhese claims are based on judicial acts, these

defendants are immune from su8ee Schucker v. Rockwo8d6 F.2d 1202, 1204 (9th Cir.
1988) (per curiam) (“Judges aresahutely immune from damage actions for judicial acts takeg
within the jurisdiction of theiraurts . . . . A judge loses absolute immunity only when [the ju
acts in the clear absence of all jurisdiction or penfan act that is notdicial in nature.” The
amended complaint also purportsassert claims against Michagloman, who is alleged to be
the Placer County District Attorney. As argusdVroman, he is entitteto absolute immunity

for all actions taken within the scope of his dufieSeelmbler v. Pachtmamd24 U.S. 409, 430-

® Again, the complaint is so poorly draftthat the basis for the claims against
defendants, including defendant Vroman, cannadeertained. Thus, it mde that plaintiff's

claims against Vroman are based on conduct uerktathis prosecutoriauties, but one cannot

tell from the text of tis convoluted complaint.
9
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31 (1976)Botello, 413 F.3d at 976 (it is “well established that a prosecutor has absolute
immunity for the decision to prosecute a particular cas&dg v. City and County of San
Franciscq 109 F.3d 578, 583 (9th Cir. 199prosecutor is entéd to absolute immunity for the
decision not to prosecutd)emery v. Kuppermarn’35 F.2d 1139, 1144 (9th Cir.1984)
(prosecutors are absolutely immune from civil llipfor post-litigationas well as pre-litigation
handling of case).

Lastly, the complaint appears to improperly jonrelated claims in a single lawsuit. T
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure do not alloal@mant to raise unrelated claims against

different defendants in a single action. Indteaplaintiff may add multiple parties where the

asserted right to relief arises out of the saraesaction or occurrence and a common question of

law or fact will arise in thaction. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2). Unrelated claims involving
different defendants must beolight in separate lawsuits.

Accordingly, plaintiff's complaint must b@&ismissed for failure to comply with Rule 8

and for failure to state a clainilaintiff should be granted leat@ amend to provide her a further

opportunity to allege a cognizalgal theory against a properfeledant and sufficient facts in
support of that cograble legal theory. Seelopez v. Smitt203 F.3d 1122, 1126-27 (9th Cir.
2000) (en banc) (district courts must afford prditegants an opportunity to amend to correct ¢
deficiency in their complaints).

V. Plaintiff's Motions for Injunctive Relief

Plaintiff has filed two separate motions fojunctive relief. ECF Nos. 11, 12. Like the
complaint, plaintiff's first motion for preliminarinjunction consists largglof plaintiff's general
objections to the legal status of marijuana.FBND. 11 at 4-6. She also complains that a nun
of individuals, none of which are parties to taction, have either beawrongfully charged or
convicted of crimes as a resulttbe government’s “war on drugsltl. Plaintiff's general
objections are followed by her request for 23 fewhinjunctive relief, including injunctions

requiring the release of all intes imprisoned for marijuana related crimes, law enforcemen

" A dismissal with leave to amend moptaintiff's motion forleave to amend.
10
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cease from conducting all raids concerning margudéme removal of various politicians from
office, and marijuana’s removal from the Qaified Substances Act, to name a feld. at 10-11.

In her second motion, plaintiff seeks a “ceasd desist order” requiring defendants to
stop “all social media attacks” and cease ‘&hésting of others tphysically, verbally, or
cyberly harass, defame or assault” plaintift. ECF No. 12 at 6.

Plaintiff fails to meet the requirements faeliminary injunctive relief. A preliminary
injunction will not issue unless necessary to prévhreatened injury that would impair the
courts ability to gant effective relief in a pending actioBierra On-Line, Inc. v. Phoenix
Software, InG.739 F.2d 1415, 1422 (9th Cir. 198&pn v. First State Ins. Cd871 F.2d 863
(9th Cir. 1989). A preliminary injunction represettie exercise of a far reaching power not tc
indulged except in a castearly warranting it.Dymo Indus. v. Tapeprinter, In826 F.2d 141,
143 (9th Cir. 1964). In order to be entitledpt@liminary injunctive relief, a party must
demonstrate “that he is likely succeed on the merits, that héikely to suffer irreparable harm
in the absence of preliminary relief, that théabae of equities tips ihis favor, and that an
injunction is in the public interest.Stormans, Inc. v. Selegl®86 F.3d 1109, 1127 (9th Cir.
2009) (citingWinter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, In55 U.S. 7 (2008)). The Ninth Circuit h

also held that the “sliding scale” approachppkes to preliminary injnctions—that is, balancing

the elements of the preliminary injunction tesst,that a stronger shavg of one element may
offset a weaker showing of another—surviVémterand continues to be validdlliance for Wild
Rockies v. Cottrell622 F.3d 1045, 1050 (9th Cir. 2010). dther words, ‘serious questions
going to the merits,” and a hardship balance tipatsharply towarthe plaintiff can support
issuance of an injunction, assumihg other two elements of tNeéintertest are also met.Id.
Given the complaint’s failure to statelaim against any of the named defendants,
plaintiff has failed to demonstrate a likelihoofdsuccess on the merits. At an irreducible
minimum, plaintiff must establis“serious questions going toetimerits” of her claims, which
she has not done her8ee Alliance for Wild Rockie832 F.3d at 1134-35. Plaintiff also has n
shown that the balance of equities tips in her fardhat the injunctions she seeks are in the
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public interest. Therefore, it 'ecommended that plaintiff's rtions for injunctive relief (ECF
Nos. 11, 12) be denied.

V. Defendant Monaco’s Motion to Set Aside Default

Also pending is defendant Chris Monaco’s rantto set aside the clerk’s entry of defad
ECF No. 21. Monaco essentiallygaes that he was not in defaaltthe time of the clerk’s entry
of default because plaintiff abandoned her oagoomplaint and failed to serve him with an
amended complaint. Thus, he had not failed to respond to the operative complaint in the 1
prescribed by the Federal Rules of Civil Pehoe. ECF No. 21-1 &-6. Alternatively, he
argues (1) that here is good catsset aside his default, and (Bg request for entry of default
was invalid due to technical deficigas. ECF No. 21-1 at 6-9.

The entry of default is appropriate against a party who has faif@gddd or otherwise
defend as provide in the Federal Rules of Givdcedure. Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(a). The Federa
Rules require that a defendant “serve an answtéin 21 days aftebeing served with the
summons and complaint.. . ..” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A).

Plaintiff filed this action on June 27, 2017, putpdg to allege claims on behalf of hers

and YUBUD Church against the @aty of Yuba, Jeremy Strang, and Chris Monaco. ECF Np.

On the same day, plaintiff personally served Blamwith a copy of the summons and compla
ECF No. 6. Thus, Monaco was requiredaspond to the complaint by July 19, 205keFed.
R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A). However, before thataelplaintiff filed her first amended complaint.
ECF No. 7. After more than 21 days passed filoarfiling of the amended complaint, plaintiff
requested entry of Monaco’s defaas to the “June 22, 2017” compl&itECF No. 15), which
the clerk subsequently emed (ECF No. 17).

Monaco does not dispute that he was prigpserved with a copy of the summons and
original complaint. Instead, he contends thatlidenot file a response tbat complaint in light
of plaintiff filing an amended complaint. Pl&ifis counsel, John Whiteflegstates that he was

retained by defendant Monaco on July 12, 201&cl&ration of John Whitefleet ISO Monaco’s

8 Presumably, plaintiff intended to writdune 27, 2017,” the dat# the original
complaint.

12

t.

ime

132
==

nt.




© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN NN DN R P R R R R R R R R
® N o O~ W N P O © 0N O 0NN W N B o

Mot. Set Aside Default (ECF No. 21-2) 1 3. Shoafter being retairg, counsel reviewed the
docket and learned that plaintiffdhéiled an amended complaind. § 4. Counsel further state
that he expected the first amended complaint wbalgromptly served given that plaintiff serv
the original complaint on the same date it was filet.{ 9. Prior to going on vacation from Ju
22 to August 7, 2017, counsel prepared an outlifrehat he conceived to be the amended
complaint’s deficiencies with the expectation tthe amended complaint would be served wit
a short period of time, requiriryresponsive pleading to be filedortly after counsel returned
from vacation.ld. § 10. Upon returning to work, counsehined that Monaco®efault had bee
entered.ld. § 12. Plaintiff, however, never sedMonaco with a copy of the amended
complaint. Id. T 13.

At the time his default was entered, Monaeal not “failed to pleadr otherwise defend’
as provided by the Federal IRs of Civil ProcedureSeeFed. R. Civ. 55(a). Having been serv
with the original complaint on June 27, 2017, he wat required to respd to that complaint
until July 19, 2017.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A)(i) (requmy a responsive pleading to be fil
within 21 days of service of the complaintHowever, once plaintiff filed her amended
complaint, Monaco was no longer required to resgoritle original complat. As previously
noted, “when a plaintiff files an amended cdanpt, the amended complaint supersedes the

original, the latter being treatédereafter as non-existentRhodes621 F.3d at 1005 (internal

J7

y

hin

—

1%
o

guotation marks omitted). The amended complaint “completely supersedes any earlier complair

rendering the original compldinon-existent and, thus, fiing date irrelevant.”id.

Under Rule 12(a), Monaco was not requireéiléohis response tthe amended complair
until 21 days after service of the amended complaint. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(1)(A). Mr.
Whitefleet’'s declaration estaldiss that plaintiff never servéddonaco with a copy of the

amended complaifta point that plaintiff does not challengBeePl.’s Opp’n to Mot. to Set

° Parties represented by counsel and who heade an appearance in a case are geng
electronically served with all filed pleadjs through the court's Case Management and
Electronic Case Filing systenseeE.D. Cal. L.R. 135. Because Monaco had not yet appear
this action at the time the amended complaintfiled, he was not electronically served. Thug
plaintiff was required to conventionally serivlonaco pursuant to Rule 5.
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Aside Default (ECF No. 48). Thus, Monaco had ‘ffaied to plead or dterwise defend” at the
time his default was entered.

Accordingly, it is recommended that his tiea to set aside his default be granted.

VI.  Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, it is hereby ORDHERIBat the September 29, 2017 order to
show cause (ECF No. 33) is disopead and no sanctions are imposed.

Further, it is hereby RECOMMENDED that:

1. Defendants Strang and the County ob&’s motion to dismiss (ECF No. 23) be
denied;

2. Defendants Vroman and Olivera’s motionditimiss and strike all plaintiffs other th
Ms. Lepp (ECF Nos. 26, 34) be granted,;

3. Defendants Ajax, Vroman, and Olivera’strmans to dismiss the complaint for failure
to state a claim (ECF Nos. 24, 26, 34) be gihated the amended complaint be dismissed wi
leave to amend,

4. Plaintiff Lepp’s motions for injunctevrelief (ECF Nos. 11, 12) be denied,

5. Plaintiff Lepp’s motion to amend the complaint (ECF No. 44) be denied as moot

6. Defendant Chris Monaco’s motion to setlaslefault (ECF No. 21) be granted and
clerk’s entry of default as to Monaco be set aside; and

7. Plaintiff be granted thirty days frometkdate of any ordedapting these findings and
recommendations to file an amedd®mplaint as provided herein.

These findings and recommendations are submitted to the United States District Ju
assigned to the case, pursuanthe provisions of 28 U.S.C. 8 636(I). Within fourteen days
after being served with these findings aadommendations, any party may file written
objections with the court andrse a copy on all parties. Sualdocument should be captioned
“Objections to Magistrate JudgeFsndings and Recommendationgrailure to file objections
1
1

i
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within the specified time may waive the rigbtappeal the Distct Court’s order.Turner v.

Duncan 158 F.3d 449, 455 (9th Cir. 1998)artinez v. YIst951 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir. 1991).

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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